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3. State/Federal Agency Certification 
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4. National Park Service Certification 

I h_yteby certify that this property is: 

_./_ e enrtered in the National Register 

_determined eligible for the National Register 

_ determined not eligible for the National Register 

_removed from the National Register 

_other (explain:) ________ _ 

~AMJ. Aww 
Signature of the Keeper 

5. Classification 

Ownership of Property 

(Check as many boxes as apply.) 
Private: 

Public - Local 

Public - State 

Public- Federal 

Category of Property 

(Check only one box.) 

Building(s) 

District 

Site 

Structure 

Object 

0 
D 
D 
D 

D 
0 
D 
D 
D 
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Number of Resources within Property 
(Do not include previously listed resources in the count) 

Contributing Noncontributing 
2 0 

2 0 

Butler County, Ohio 
County and State 

buildings 

sites 

structures 

objects 

Total 

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register -~3"---

6. Function or Use 
Historic Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
COMMERCE/department store 
COMMERCE/business (office building) 

Current Functions 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
VACANT 
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7. Description 

Architectural Classification 
(Enter cateffories from instructions.) 
LATE 19T AND 20TH CENTURY REVIVALS: French Renaissance 

Butler County, Ohio 
County and State 

LATE 19TH AND EARLY 20m CENTURY AMERICAN MOV .. MENTS: Commercial 

Style 

Materials: (enter categories from instructions.) 
Principal exterior materials of the property: STONE: sandstone, limestone; BRICK; 

STUCCO; CAST IRON; SYNTHETIC: rubber 

Narrative Description 
(Describe the historic and current physical appearance and condition of the property. Describe 

contributing and noncontributing resources if applicable. Begin with a summary paragraph that 

briefly describes the general characteristics of the property, such as its location, type, style, 
method of construction, setting, size, and significant features. Indicate whether the property has 

historic integrity.) 

Summary Paragraph 

The boundary increase comprises two historically functionally related early 201
h century four­

story commercial buildings-the Mehrum Building (220-226 High Street) and the Lindley 
Building (216-218 High Street), which are immediately west of the existing High Street 
Commercial Block (NR 2004) on the north side of High Street in the heart of Hamilton's central 
business district. (See site plan.) The Mehrum and Lindley buildings were internally connected 
in 1922 when the Strauss Department Store, which began in the Mehrum Building in 1907, 
expanded into the Lindley Building. Together these buildings were renovated into The Hamilton 
Center, an office and convention complex, in the 1970s. At this time, the storefronts were 
renovated and the upper facade covered with a metal screen. In April 2013, this screen was 

removed, revealing the original facades. The Mehrum Building has a 5-bay-wide limestone 
French Renaissance fa9ade with gabled wall dormers and slate mansard roof; the Lindley 

Building has a simpler brick fa9ade with a single bay of windows and parapet. Both buildings 
have brick walls on side and rear. The Mehrum Building extends through the block, while the 
Lindley Building extends about a third of the way back. The increase also includes a narrow 
passage known as Journal Alley between the existing district and the two structures to be 
added. 
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Narrative Description 

Butler County, Ohio 
County and State 

As described above, the boundary increase includes two four-story red brick commercial 
buildings. The larger and older building, at 220-226 High Street, was historically known as the 
Mehrum Building. Originally built circa 1900, burned in 1906 and rebuilt in 1907, it is 70 feet and 
five bays wide by 202 feet and 11 bays deep. The Lindley Building, built between 1906 and 

1913 at 216-218 High Street, is 23 feet and one bay wide by 74 feet deep. 

The Mehrum Building is an excellent example of the French Renaissance Revival style. The 
storefronts have been completely remodeled but the upper fac;ade is still substantially intact. 
The exuberant sandstone fac;ade features two-story window bays with large paired window 
openings at the second and third floors, a rusticated fourth floor with paired one-over-one 
windows, and a patterned slate mansard roof dramatized by steeply gabled wall dormers with 
oculus windows. The fac;ade is anchored by the more-solid center bay, which features paired 
windows with an entablature on the second floor and a keystoned flat arch on the third. The 
central dormer above has a shaped parapet and displays the date in raised letters, "A.1900 D." 

The space within the mansard was never occupied, thus the mansard was probably added to 
draw attention to the building within the streetscape. 

The Lindley Building displays an early Commercial-style fac;ade with the typical three-part 
fac;ade-storefront base, unified two-story mid-section and a distinct top, with a lower frieze-like 
floor topped by a high parapet. The storefront has been completely remodeled; similar to the 
Mehrum Building, but most of the masonry fac;ade still exists, with the, exception of the cornice. 
Openings above the storefront are focused in a single bay in the center. The fourth floor is 
refined by corbelled brick panels flanking the central window. Historically the building was 
capped by a modillioned cornice (missing) and the parapet was punctuated in the center by a 
stone plaque with "LINDLEY" spelled out in raised lettering (currently hidden). 

The side elevations of the Mehrum Block are simpler red brick walls; the east wall abuts Journal 
Alley (photos 8-11), and the west wall, a windowless party wall, is exposed behind the Lindley 
Building. On the east wall, all openings at the basement and most openings at the first floor on 
this elevation have been filled in with brick and painted over. Smooth stone lintels remain, 
marking the location of these former openings. The third and fourth floor openings are intact, 
with large two-over-two steel windows as well as some replacements. 

On the north, a concrete parking garage extends over Market Street to within 40 inches of the 
Mehrum Building's rear elevation. The east section of the rear, at 224-226 High Street, has buff 

face brick and large single-pane aluminum windows with transoms (photo 12). The west 

section, at the rear of 220-222 High Street, has been refaced with pre-cast concrete panels and 
stucco, and the openings altered substantially. The basement was most recently occupied by a 
Mexican restaurant known as "Pedro's." The upper fac;ade has pre-cast concrete panels (photo 

13), and a fire escape provides a connection to the parking garage (photos 15-17). 

Both buildings have coursed ashlar stone basements, which are exposed at the north end 

where the grade slopes down. The side elevations of both the Mehrum and Lindley Blocks are 
windowless (photos 18-20). The rear elevation of the Lindley Block has a windowless shed-
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roofed extension at the first and second floors and two bays of aluminum replacement windows 

at the third and fourth floors (photos 18, 21 ). 

On the interior, both buildings probably had open floor plans. Interior spaces have been 

subdivided and refinished for conventions and office use with ceramic and wood tile floors, 

carpet, drywall, and suspended acoustic tile ceilings, except for the third and fourth floors of the 

224-226 High Street (photos 22-73). The latter spaces, which are only about 1 00-feet-deep, 

were left unoccupied for many years and retain original wood floors, plaster walls, pressed 

metal ceilings (photos 52-56, 63-64) and two-over-two steel windows (photo 65). In addition, a 

cast-iron stair with an ornamental metal and wood railing is intact toward the rear of the building 

(photo 51). There is evidence also of an intact pressed metal ceiling, which appears to be intact 

above all or most of the suspended ceilings in the Mehrum Building. 

Alterations 

In the mid-1970s, as mentioned above, the buildings were renovated and converted into the 

Hamilton Center, which housed retail, meeting space, offices, and a restaurant. (The complex is 

entirely vacant at present and proposed for rehabilitation as artists' lofts.) At this time a 

louvered metal screen was installed, unifying the front elevations. The original storefronts were 

replaced with stucco, aluminum and glass, and pre-fabricated stone facing. Most of the original 

windows, with some exceptions on the east elevation of the Mehrum Block, were replaced with 

aluminum. As mentioned above, most of the upper floors were subdivided for offices. 

The alley was recently enhanced with brick paving, planters and metal archways to create an 

attractive walkway to the municipal parking garage which extends over most of the street on the 

north. At that time, the lower floors of the east elevation of the Mehrum Block were painted to 

cover patches where window openings were filled in with brick masonry. The rear elevation of 

the Mehrum Block has been altered with pre-cast concrete panels and stucco, and the west 

elevations of both buildings are previously unexposed party walls left after the adjoining Beckett 

Block at the northeast corner of Second and High streets was demolished in 2005. 

Integrity 

The recent removal of the 1970s-era metal screen has revealed that the buildings' original 

character is substantially intact, particularly the highly decorative sandstone fa~ade of the 

Mehrum Building with its dramatic dormered roofline and slate mansard. The more restrained 

Lindley building retains its smooth brick fa~ade, stone trim, and basic composition. Both 

buildings have altered storefronts and replacement windows, although the Mehrum Building 

appears to retain original two-over-two wood windows in the two right bays on the second floor. 

Historic photographs show storefronts with fluted cast-iron columns, large display windows 

shaded with canvas awnings and transoms filled with Luxfer prism glass above. The transoms 

are gone, but the fluted cast-iron columns, which were covered with Perma-stone, remain on the 

Mehrum Building. An upcoming rehabilitation will restore the appearance of the original windows 

and provide new aluminum and glass storefronts based on historic photographs. As mentioned 

above, most of the interior spaces have been subdivided for offices on the upper floors, but the 

third and fourth floors of 224-226 High Street retain their original wood floors, plaster walls, and 

pressed metal ceilings. While the integrity of the buildings has suffered it is sufficient to convey 

their significance; moreover excellent photographic and physical evidence remains, which will 

serve as the basis for rehabilitation based on their original designs. 
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8. Statement of Significance 

Applicable National Register Criteria 

Butler County, Ohio 
County and State 

(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register 

listing.) 

D 
0 

D 

A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the 

broad patterns of our history. 

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past. 

C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of 

construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values, 

or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack 

individual distinction. 

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or 

history. 

Criteria Considerations 
(Mark "x" in all the boxes that apply.) 

D A. Owned by a religious institution or used for religious purposes 

D B. Removed from its original location 

D C. A birthplace or grave 

D D. A cemetery 

D E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure 

0 F. A commemorative property 

D G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years 
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Areas of Significance 
(Enter categories from instructions.) 
COMMERCE/TRADE: business/department store 
ARCHITECTURE 

Period of Significance 
1900-1958 

Significant Dates 
1900, 1907, 1922 

Significant Person 
(Complete only if Criterion B is marked above.) 

Cultural Affiliation 

Architect/Builder 
Mueller, Frederick (Lindley Building) 
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes 

level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any 

applicable criteria considerations.) 

This amendment proposes to add two historically functionally related buildings contiguous on 

the west to the existing High Street Commercial Block (Historic District). Like the existing High 

Street Commercial Block, the buildings at 216-226 High Street are eligible at the local level for 

the National Register under Criterion A in the area of Commerce. The buildings are also eligible 

in the area of Architecture as examples of early 20th century mercantile buildings in the French 

Renaissance and Commercial styles. The buildings in the increase represent the same theme 

of commerce-the transition from dry goods to department stores-and reflect a period of 

significance from 1900, the date of initial construction of the Mehrum Building, to 1958 when 

Kresge's vacated it. Thus the period of significance of the original district, 187 4-1953, would be 

expanded by this boundary increase to 1874-1958. (The end date for the original historic district 

nomination reflected the 50-year cut off; this slightly expanded end date reflects a more 

meaningful date applicable to the existing commercial grouping and added buildings) 

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of 

significance.) 

Commerce 

Like the three buildings that make up the High Street Commercial Block, the Mehrum and 

Lindley Blocks were part of the substantial dry goods and retail industry on High Street, sharing 

its associations with the commercial development of Hamilton along High Street. The Mehrum 

Block is exemplary of the transition of dry goods shops into department stores in the early 20th 

century. Similarly in the 20th century, the Mehrum Block was occupied by S. S. Kresge's while 

the High Street Commercial Block housed national chains such as A & P Grocery stores, J. C. 

Penney and McCrory's discount stores. Like many older buildings along High Street, they were 

covered with a metal screen in the 1970s, while others have been demolished. However, the 

screen was recently removed in anticipation of their rehabilitation, revealing their original 

character. 

Architecture 

The Mehrum and Lindley buildings are excellent examples of early-twentieth-century French 

Renaissance and Commercial style architecture as applied to the three-part commercial block 

building type. The Mehrum Block is an excellent example of the French Renaissance Revival 

style. The storefronts have been completely remodeled but the upper fac;ade is still 

substantially intact. The exuberant sandstone fac;ade features two-story window bays with large 

paired window openings at the second and third floors, a rusticated fourth floor with paired one­

over-one windows, and a patterned slate mansard roof dramatized by steeply gabled wall 

dormers with oculus windows. The fac;ade is anchored by the more-solid center bay, which 

features paired windows with an entablature on the second floor and a keystoned flat arch on 

the third. The central dormer above has a shaped parapet and displays the date in raised 
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letters, "A.1900 D." The space within the mansard was never occupied, thus the mansard was 

probably added to draw attention to the building within the streetscape. 

The Lindley Block, designed by Frederick Mueller, displays an early Commercial-style fayade 

with the typical tripartite fayade-storefront base, unified two-story mid-section and a distinct 

top, with a lower frieze-like floor topped by a high parapet. The storefront has been completely 

remodeled; similar to the Mehrum Building, but most of the masonry fayade still exists, with the 

exception of the cornice. Openings above the storefront are focused in a single bay in the 

center. The fourth floor is refined by corbelled brick panels flanking the central window. 

Historically the building was capped by a modillioned cornice (missing) and parapet was 

punctuated in the center by a stone plaque with "LINDLEY" spelled out in raised lettering 

(hidden). 

The Mehrum and Lindley Blocks also represent the transition to the three-part commercial 

block. Richard Longstreth in The Buildings of Main Street compares this building type to a 

classical column with divisions of base, shaft and capital. Fully realized examples occurred by 

the early 1890s, but for the most part commercial buildings remained transitional until the early 

201
h century. Though only four-stories-tall, the Mehrum and Lindley Blocks both display the 

clear divisions of storefronts at the base, extended vertical window bays in the middle, and attic 

stories articulated in a different way from the lower floors. They exemplify a later phase of 

commercial architecture than the High Street Commercial Block, which are two-part commercial 

buildings. They also display the vertical emphasis of the upper floors through the use of 

continuous piers and wall surfaces. 

The Mehrum Building was built in 1900 by Henry Frechtling, whose family invested in several 

businesses in Hamilton, including a dairy on Front Street and the Globe Opera House at 221 

High Street. He named the building after his hometown, Mehrum, Germany. On November 6, 

1906 a massive fire destroyed most of the building except for the ornamental fayade (figure 3). 

Secured by a lease to the Strauss Clothing Company, the Mathes-Sohngen Company rebuilt 

and enlarged the building. 

The Mathes-Sohngen Company was also a department store, which was located at 232 High 

Street and expanded into the upper floors of 228 High Street in the 1930s. George P. Sohngen, 

who was vice president of the Second National Bank and president of the C. D. Mathes Dry 

Goods Company, was a member of the Sohngen family, which had located to Hamilton in 1850 

and established a thriving malting house in 1858. It is likely that the Mathes-Sohngen 

Department Store partnered with Strauss to contend with the Robinson-Schwenn Department 

store in 1919, the date the store left 232 High Street. 

The Strauss Clothing Company was founded in 187 4 by Meyer Strauss, who was born in 

Germany in 1813 and came to America at age 13. He found work in a wholesale clothing 

house, and attended school at night. The business began as a small store, which occupied 

various locations on High Street, including 240 High Street which is part of the High Street 

Commercial Block. The Strauss & Company clothing store occupied 240 High Street from 

approximately 1884 until 1907 when their growth required larger quarters. When the Mehrum 

Building was rebuilt after the 1906 fire, the Strauss family combined their clothing store and 

shoe store, which then was at Third and High, creating the Strauss Clothing and Shoe Company 

to fill the new larger location. 
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The family took great pride in their building and installed electric lights all across the fayade, 
using the latest technology to draw attention to their store and enliven High Street. A circa 1909 

post card (figure 4) shows the name "Strauss" was displayed prominently in multiple locations­
in light-bulb laden letters billboard-style on the rooftop, and repeated three times in vertical rows 
between the window bays. The name was also painted in large letters at the top of the west 
side elevation. The Lindley Block, a narrow, red brick structure was designed by architect 
Frederick Mueller and constructed to the west of the Mehrum Building sometime between 1906 
and 1913. The lindley Block saw a variety of uses until 1922, when renovations connected it 
with the Mehrum Building, and the Strauss Clothing Company expanded into it. Both buildings 
appears draped with bunting in a circa 1922 photograph (figure 5). 

A 1924 pamphlet celebrating the 50th Anniversary of the Strauss company states their 
storefront was "as recognizable as the courthouse," which stood within sight on High Street 
between Second and Front streets. City directories indicate that the Strauss Company 
continued at this location until the mid-1930s, when H. R. Green, a 5- and 1 0-cent store took 
over their space in the complex. (A 1930s photograph, figure 6, shows the Strauss Company 
had vacated the building.) The space at 224-226 High Street was occupied from 1908 until 
approximately 1930 by the Holbrook Brothers dry goods store, followed by the S. S. Kresge 
Company, a national 5- and 10-cent store, which remained until at least 1958. 

Both the Mehrum and Lindley Blocks hold dominant positions along the north side of High 
Street. The stretch of block buildings between Front and Third Streets were the grandest and 
seemingly most photographed in Hamilton's business district, yet today, less than half of the 
buildings remain. 
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Primary location of additional data: 

__x_ State Historic Preservation Office 
__ Other State agency 
__ Federal agency 
__ Local government 
__ University 

Other 
Name of repository:-----------------

Historic Resources Survey Number (if assigned): -------

10. Geographical Data 

Acreage of Property .43 -Less than one acre 

Use either the UTM system or latitude/longitude coordinates 

UTM References 
Datum (indicated on USGS map): 

0NAD 1927 or D NAD 1983 

Butler County, Ohio 
County and State 

1. Zone: 16 Easting:710009 Northing: 4363767 

2. Zone: Easting: Northing: 

3. Zone: Easting: Northing: 

4. Zone: Easting: Northing: 

Verbal Boundary Description (Describe the boundaries ofthe property.) 

The buildings occupy the entire Lot No. 112 in the City of Hamilton, designated on the Hamilton 
County plat, and also known after July 11, 1983 as Lot #27048. The boundary increase also 
includes Journal Alley, a pedestrian passage between the existing High Street Commercial 

Block and the buildings to be added. Boundary includes Parcel No. P6421002000064 and 
Parcel No. P6421 002000064 (alley). 
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Boundary Justification (Explain why the boundaries were selected.) 
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There are several properties in the vicinity that are individually listed in the National Register­

the Hamilton Historic Civic Center (NR 1994), bounded by High, Front, Market and Monument 

streets, the Butler County Courthouse, which occupies the block bordered by High, Front, 

Second and Court streets; the Dixon/Globe Opera House/ Robinson Schwenn Building (NR 

2000) at 221 High Street, directly opposite on the south across the street. However, the existing 

High Street Commercial Block and the proposed additions are immediately surrounded on the 

west, north and east sides by vacant lots and intrusions such as the concrete parking garage 

built over Market Street circa 1975. The three buildings to the east of the original Commercial 

Block Historic District, at 242-246, 250 High Street, and 254 East High Street at the corner of 

North Third Street, have been altered and were thus not included at the time. They remain 

altered and thus are not included in the currently proposed boundary increase. 

While there are additional buildings identified in the Ohio Historic Inventory as eligible-such as 

the 1906 Rentschler Building (BUT-726-9) at the southeast corner of High and Second streets 

and the 1931 Second National Bank Building (BUT-737-9) at the northeast corner of High and 

Third streets, they are not contiguous. Therefore, the proposed boundaries of the increase are 

limited to the two buildings at 216-226 High Street and Journal Alley. 

11. Form Prepared By 

name/title: Beth Sullebarger, Principal 
organization: Sullebarger Associates 
street & number: 1 080 Morse A venue 

city or town: Glendale state: _0-==h=io=------ zip code:--"45=-=2=-4"-"6'---- -
e-mail sullebarger@fuse.net 
telephone: (5l3) 772- l 088 
date: January 30. 2014 

Additional Documentation 

Submit the following items with the completed form: 

• Maps: A USGS map or equivalent (7.5 or 15 minute series) indicating the property's 

location. 

• Sketch map. See Continuation Sheet for Sketch Map and Exterior Photo Key, 1st floor 
and 2nd floor photo keys. 

• Additional items: 
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Aerial and Historic Photographs 
Figure 1: Aerial view of High Street, looking west, 2010 
Figure 2: High Street, looking southwest from Third Street, early 1900s 
Figure 3: Ruins of the Mehrum Block after the fire, November 1906 
Figure 4: Strauss Department Store, circa 1909 
Figure 5: High Street, looking north, circa 1922 
Figure 6: High Street, looking north from Second Street, circa 1935 

Photographs 

Photo Log 

Name of Property: Strauss Department Store/Mehrum and Lindley buildings 

City or Vicinity: Hamilton 

County: Butler State: Ohio 

Photographer: Beth A Sullebarger 

Date Photographed: May and November 2013 

Butler County, Ohio 
County and State 

Description of Photograph(s) and number, include description of view indicating direction of camera: 

1 of 15. Side (west) and Front (south) elevations, looking northeast 
2 of 15. Side (west) and Front (south) elevations, looking northeast 
3 of 15. Front (south) and side (east) elevations, looking northwest 
4 of 15. Front (south elevation, Lindley (on left) and Mehrum (on right) buildings 
5 of 15. Detail showing date, (1900 A.D.) in gable 
6 of 15. East elevation, looking northwest along Journal Alley 
7 of 15. Rear elevations, High Street Commercial Block, looking southwest 
8 of 15. Rear elevation, Mehrum Building 
9 of 15. Wall sign on west elevation, looking northeast 
10 of 15. First floor, central entrance lobby, looking northwest 
11 of 15. First floor, front stair detail, looking north 
12 of 15. First floor, rear stair detail, looking north 
13 of 15. Fourth floor, looking southeast toward light well 
14 of 15. Fourth floor, looking southeast 
15 of 15. Fourth floor, detail of stamped metal ceiling and cornice molding, looking west 

Paperwork Reduction Act Statement: This information is being collected for applications to the National Register of Historic 

Places to nominate properties for listing or determine eligibility for listing, to list properties, and to amend existing listings. Response 

to this request is required to obtain a benefit in accordance with the National Historic Preservation Act, as amended (16 U.S.C.460 

et seq.). 
Estimated Burden Statement: Public reporting burden for this form is estimated to average 1 00 hours per response including 

time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and completing and reviewing the form. Direct comments regarding 

this burden estimate or any aspect of this form to the Office of Planning and Performance Management. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 

1849 C. Street, NW, Washington, DC. 
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Figure 1. Aerial view of High Street, looking west, 2010, 
Bing Maps 

Figure 2. High Street, looking southwest from Third Street, early 1900s, 
Butler County Historical Society 
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Figure 3: Ruins of the Mehrum Block after the fire, November 1906, 
Butler County Historical Society 
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Figure 4: Strauss Department Store, circa 1909 
Butler County Historical Society 
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Figure 5: High Street, looking north, circa 1922, 
Butler County Historical Society 

Figure 6: High Street, looking north from Second Street, circa 1935, 
Butler County Historical Society 
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